Sawdust piles remained long afterwards as monuments: of
A by-gone era.
2. & 20. FLEMING LOGGING ROAD AND TERMINAL
The Fleming Logging Road was a railroad built from
Bruno to the St. Croix River at the Yellow Banks east
and south of Hinckley. It was used to haul logs from the
various logging camps down to the St. Croix where they
were floated down to Stillwater. About 1898 the rails
and ties were removed and the road bed made into a wagon
road. The present Fleming Road almost exactly follows
the old road bed.

3. FINLAYSON HEALTH SPA

According to an early brochure, a mineral spring
having therapeutic qualities was discovered northeast of
Finlayson, Minnesota. A company was formed and shares
sold. Plans for a hotel and health resort were made but
very little was done on the project.. The company finally
was dissolved. The spring can still be seen and some signs
of previous buildings are discernible.
4. ROOT'S TRAIN

With a train packed full of terrified, screaming pas-
sengers behind him and a blazing inferno ahead and beside
him, James Root backed his train northward from a burn-
ing Hinckley in a race against death and that September
halocaust of 1894, known as the Great Hinckley Fire.
Gaining a little, he brought his train to a stop at Skunk
Lake where his passengers and his crew sought safety ina
its muddy and shallow waters. Only those on his train!
who sought safety elsewhere perished. A small pond along
Highway No. 61 about six miles north of Hinckley marks
the location of Skunk Lake, once so vital to so many people.
5. BRENNAN SAW MILL /

The Brennan saw mill, owned and operated by Mr. J.!|
J. Brennan, was one of the largest saw mills in the Hinckley|
area previous to the Hinckley Fire. It was located on the|
Grindstone River, northwest of town. It consisted of aj
large mill pond, saw mill and planing mill. The mill burned
completely in the Hinckley Fire and was never rebuilt.
Machinery mounts and similar signs remain as a witness of
the mighty lumber industry of the Hinckley area.
6. TUXEDO INN

The “Tuxedo Inn” was one of several resorts on
Pokegema Lake in the 1890’s. Many elegant people from
the Twin Cities, St. Cloud and Duluth liked to spend their
week-ends at the lake and it was the rule that tuxedos and
formal dresses be worn at the balls where famous orches-|
tras of that day played. ]
7. THE KATE' R [

The Kate R, named for the wife of the owner, DMr./
Richard Robinson, was an excursion steamboat plying the/
high waters of Snake River and Pokegema Lake. She was
a large sternwheeler that carried up to eighty passengers;
from the docks in Pine City to various resorts on Pokegema,
Lake. Captain Elijah Seavey, better known as ‘
Seavey, was captain of the Kate R for many years.
8. BUTTON FACTORIES |

Clamming for pearls was a great sport around the/
shores of Lake Pokegema in the 1890’s; often valuable
pearls were found - one valued at $2,800.00. In time, some
enterprising people got the idea of making buttons from the
shells. J. J. Madden had a small factory where Wm. Korbel’s|
residence now stands, and Melvin J. Cherrier had a small
business at his home on Cross Lake. Button blanks were
sawed out of the clam shells bought by the pound, mostly
from enterprising youngsters who brought them in by the
sack load. Several men were employed in the work and
the blank buttons were sent to other factories to be finished.
9. HINCKLEY MONUMENT
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year. Later Longstroet 'l‘nyw "foundation took it over
with Dr. F. ¥. Callahan as guperintendent. By 1942, it
became evident that a privaie institution was no longer
needed here, and the Sanatorium was sold to the Redemp-
torist Fathers in October 194>1,‘ and is now the St. Gerard
Mission House. |

15. SANDSTONE CREOSOTE PLANT

About 1905 a creosote plant was established to prepare
telephone and telegraph poles; railroad ties, and especially
creosoted paving blocks. In| 1910, this business and the
quarry had 600 employees and a monthly payroll of $60,000.
It was located on the southwgst edge of town. The plant
ceased operation when litightion developed because of
seepage of the creosote into fhe mineral springs south of
town which at that time wasjbeing bottled and shipped in
large quantities.

16. MISSION CREEK LUMBER MILL

Previous to the Hinckley!|Fire, a village had grown up
around the lumber mill at Mission Creek. The first mill
built here, which had a capacity of 3,000,000 feet per annum,
burned down in 1885, but wad rebuilt immediately. It was
purchased by the John Martih Lumber Co. and later sold
to the Boyle-Laird company just previous to the Hinckley
Fire. After the fire it was never rebuilt. A well and
signs of the old cemetery are all that remains of those early
days at Mission Creek. e
17. COPPER MINING

It was J. Bennet Smith of Scranton, Penn., as general
agent for the Lake Superior and Minneapolis railroad, who
claimed discovering indications of copper on the north
banks of Snake river, 4 miles east of Pine City. Mr. Smith,
with two associates, started some prospective mining, with-
out any success, as early as 1880. In 1889, he organized a
stock company with a capital of $250,000 and several pros-
pect shafts were sunk to a depth of 150 feet. The adventure
saw some encouraging activity in the beginning of the cen-
tury . A crew of 5 - 6 men, employing steam powered equip-
ment came upon some promising veins of copper only to dis-
continue the operation. In the spring of 1907 a new $50,000
mining corporation was formed. This was abandoned that
year. Remains of these adventures can still be seen some
80 rods south of where the River road meets Co. Road 13.

Two promising copper mines were developed along
the Kettle River east and south of Hinckley. The Great
Northern Copper Company mine was located directly east
of Hinckley on the Kettle River. The last change made in
Highway No. 48 has erased all previous signs of this mine,
the highway now passing almost directly over the shaft lo-
cation. The Keweenaw mine is further south along the
river. Piles of rock and shaft depressions can still be found.
18. FIRST PUBLIC SCHOOL IN PINE COUNTY.

The first school in Pine County, Minnesota, was built
in the old county seat village, Chengwatana, located on
Snake River on the east shore of Cross Lake. It was organ-
ized in 1868. In 1894 the township of Chengwatana was
reorganized and the school was located on land donated by
Mr. Henry Kruse in the Hustletown area. There you may
still find School District No. 1. Miss Agnes Glanville was
the first teacher in Hustletown.

19. OLD GOVERNMENT ROAD.

The Military Road, commonly called the Old Government
Road, was built between Superior, Wis., and St. Paul, Minn
The alleged purpose for its building was to aid the military
forces in protecting the Head of the Lakes region from In-
dinn attacks. It was completed in 1854. Mail was carried
regularly over it and stage coanches made regular trips be-
tween Duluth and St. Paul. With the coming of the rail-
ronde the stage lines went out of business. Parts of the

P

dam erected on the Kettle River. The stone was of very
rood quality and many fine buildings and bridges have been
built with stone from these quarries. This industry caused
the very rapid growth of Fortuna which name was then
changed to Sandstone. Since the advent of structural steel
and concrete in recent years the use of stone has come to
a near end.
SKUNK LAKE.
TURPVILLE.

Turpville, now Cloverdale, was the site of the Standard
Turpentine plant, owned and cperated by the Copilovich
brothers. It started operation soon after the Hinckley Fire.
Four huge retorts were used. Turpentine, pine tar and oil
of tar were extracted from the Norway pine stumps which
were brought in by the settlers in large numbers. Coke was
a by-product of the process. All of these products were put
in large barrels and hauled by wagon teams to Hinckley
for shipment. This industry lasted for several years until
the near supply of stumps became exhausted.
JEAN DULUTH FARM.

Jean Duluth Farm was an early experimental dairy
farm established by John G. Williams near Nickerson in
the early 20’s.

(See Root’s Train, No. 4).

o) (=

%ﬁi&\:&
=

N
)
=

SRR

T TN
..‘_;

Pine CounTty

MINNESOT A,

\
\

it Briet Discriphion of Samel}

N

Al
.

~Jagz

|

A convenient Guide to the interesting Past of Pine



Numbered Articles Correspond With Numbers On Map
DESCRIPTIVE DATA OF HISTORICAL SITES

CHENGWATANA (THE BIRTEPLACE OF PINE COUNTY)

Where the Snake River emerges on the east shore of
Cross Lake, an Indian village had been located from time
immemorial. This had always been a rallying point for
Indians and traders. It was called Chengwatana, which
means ‘“town of pines.”” The county itself, named in the
earliest days of the white man, was probably named after
this early village as well as for the extensive pine forests.
The little village was located on the old Government Road
on which post riders and stage coaches carried mail and
passengers from St. Paul to the heall of the Lakes. Pine
County was officially organized by act of the Territorial
Legislature in 1858. Chengwatana was designated the
county seat. When the Lake Superior - Mississippi rail-
road was built in 1870, the court house, by popular vote,
was moved to the present Pine City, and Chengwatana as
a village ceased to exist.
FIRST SETTLER IN PINE COUNTY

Royalton township, in the southwest corner of Pine
County, was first settled by a Mr. Elam Greely, who built
a home on Snake River in 1349. He soon moved to Still-
water, where he became a very prominent citizen. The
Greely store and creamery today bear his name. Royalton
township was named for Royal C. Gray, who located on
the Greely farm in 1854. For many years he operated a
public house at Greely station on the Kanabec or Snake
River. Thus the settlement of Pine County was begun.

l. RUTLEDGE LUMBER MILL

The first lumber mill at Rutledge was built in the
carly 1880’s by the S. S. Griggs and Co. This mill had an
annual capacity of 3,000,000 board feet. However, it was
destroyed by fire and was rebuilt in 1892 by the Rutledge
Lumber company. This continued in operation until 1906.
Sawdust piles remained long afterwards as monuments of
A by-gone era.
2. & 20. FLEMING LOGGING ROAD AND TERMINAL

The Fleming Logging Road was a railroad built from
Bruno to the St. Croix River at the Yellow Banks east
and south of Hinckley. It was used to haul logs from the
various logging camps down to the St. Croix where they
were floated down to Stillwater. About 1898 the rails
and ties were removed and the road bed made into a’ wagon
coad. The present Fleming Road almost exactly follows
he old road bed.
3. FINLAYSON HEALTH SPA

According to an early brochure, a mineral spring
1aving therapeutic qualities was discovered northeast of
Finlayson, Minnesota. A company was formed and shares
s5old.  Plans for a hotel and health resort were made but
very little was done on the project.. The company finally
was dissolved. The spring can still be seen and some signs
of previous buildings are discernible.
4. ROOT’'S TRAIN

With a train packed full of terrified, screaming pas-
sengers behind him and a blazing inferno ahead and beside
him, James Root backed his train northward from a burn-
ng Hinckley in a race against death and that September
1alocaust of 1894, known as the Great Hinckley Fire.
saining a little, he brought his train to a stop at Skunk
Lake where his passengers and his crew sought safety 1rq
ts muddy and shallow waters. Only those on his train!
vho sought safety elsewhere perished. A small nond alornor

was built by a Mr. McKay in/ 1892-93, on the old St. Croix
and 4 miles east of Pine Citly. Good size logging and
lumbering operations got ungder way, including the build-
ing of a wooden tramway for hauling lumber from the
camp to the railroad at Rock Creek. The mill, however,
was completely destroyed by/fire in 1894.

12. FIRST ORGANIZED CHURCH IN PINE COUNTY
The First Presbyterian |Church in Pine City is the
oldest church in Pine County. It was organized in 1870
by Rev. D. C. Lyon of St. |Paul Presbytery.: The first
building was erected in 1878 and is still a part of the re-
modeled santuary. The first elder, Wm. Francey, was
installed in 1878. Visiting|ministers conducted services
until 1894, when the Rev. P.|Knutson became the first in-
stalled pastor. .
13. POGEGEMA MISSIO |
The Pokegema Mission, |established in 1836, on the
east shore of Pokegema Lake|by Rev. Frederick Ayer and
Rev. Boutwell, Presbyterian‘j issionaries, was located on

the site of the Ralph Ausmug farm. The Mission was the
scene of many conflicts between Sioux and Chippewa
tribes before it was abandongd and the Tndians sent to re-
servations. These and other| missionaries accomplished
much in frontier Minnesota.| They established’ schools,
taught the Indians agricultute, wrote letters and reports
about Indian life. They also translated the Bible and pub-
lished books in the Sioux_ghd Chippewa languages. To
facilitate this work a printing press was brought into the
Pokegema Mission. This wag the first printing press ever
to be set up in Minnesota.

14. TUBERCULOSIS SANATORIUM

In 1905 Dr. Longstreet Taylor of St. Paul, founded the
Pokegema Sanatorium at the junction of Snake River and
Lake Pokegema, four miles west of Pine City. This institu-
tion was established for the treatment of cases of incipient
tuberculqsis. Dr. R. L. Wiseman was an assistant the first
year. Later Longstreet Taylor Foundation took it over
with Dr. F. F. Callahan as {superintendent. By 1942, it
became evident that a privafe institution was no longer
needed here, and the Sanatorium was sold to the Redemp-
torist Fathers in October 1944, and is now the St. Gerard
Mission House.

15. SANDSTONE CREOSOTE PLANT

About 1805 a creosote pl:ﬁnt was established to prepare
telephone and telegraph poles, railroad ties, and especially
creosoted paving blocks. In| 1910, this business and the
quarry had 600 employees and a monthly payroll of $60,000.
It was located on the southwést edge of town. The plant
ceased operation when litightion developed because of
seepage of the creosote into fhe mineral springs south of
town which at that time wasfbeing bottled and shipped in
large quantities.
16. MISSION CREEK LUMBER MILL

Previous to the Hinckley!|Fire, a village had grown up
around the lumber mill at Mission Creek. The first mill
built here, which had a capacity of 3,000,000 feet per annum,
burned down in 1885, but wad rebuilt immediately. It was
purchased by the John Martih Lumber Co. and later sold
to the Boyle-Laird company just previous to the Hinckley
Fire. After the fire it was hever rebuilt. A well and
signs of the old cemetery are 41l that remains of those early
days at Mission Creek. s
17. COPPER MINING

It was J. Bennet Smith of Scranton, Penn.. as general

the rescue trains sent out from Duluth. After the Great
Northern Railroad built a spur into the quarry, the spur to
the St. Paul and Duluth line was abandoned. Signs of it
can still be seen near the junction.

ELLSON. -

Ellson was a small early Pine County community—a
store, post office and a saw mill—which suffered the not un-
common fate of fire—rebuilt and again, fire. The store is
all that now remains.

ROCK DAM RELAY STATION.
DEER CREEK RBRELAY STATION.

These two sites were welcome spots to the stage-weary
traveler traveling the Old Government Road between Su-
perior, Wis. and St. Paul, Minnesota in the 1850’s. Here the
weary horses, too, were replaced: by fresh ones. Eating
houses served food '‘and at Deer Creek an hotel furnished
overnight lodgings. Signs of these stations are still discern-
able. At Deer Creek, the cellar and outlines of the stables
and the hotel can still be seen.

BANNING.

Banning (orginally “Quarry”) situated in Sec. 34, Fin-
layson Township, was named in honor of William T. Ban-
rming, a railroad contractor, who was born in Delaware in
1814. He settled in St. Paul in 1855. The townsite was
owned by Theodore F. Koch Land Co. of St. Paul. Plat
contained 100 lots and six streets, namely: Broughton, Mil-
ler, Clark, Plough, Summer and Russell. Established indus-
iries: Sandstone Quarries and Barber Asphalt Co. Contem-
plated Industries, Hydro-Electric Plant and Pulp Mills. In-
corporated 1501. Postoffice established Dec. 9, 1896, discon-
tinued Sept. 30, 1912. Population 150. Walls of one large
building, railroad beds, machine mounts, and building slabs
remain as evidence of early Pine County initiative. This
is Pine County’s only ghost town.

SANDSTONE QUARRY.

The Sandstone Quarries were opened in August of 1885.
The diamond tooth saw was run by water power from a
dam erected on the Xettle River. The stone was of very
good quality and many fine buildings, and bridges have been
built with stone from these quarries. This industry caused
the very rapid growth of Fortuna which name was then
changed to Sandstone. Since the advent of structural steel
and concrete in recent years the use of stone has come to
a near end.
SKUNK LAKE.
TURPVILLE.

Turpville, now Cloverdale, was the site of the Standard
Turpentine plant, owned and operated by the Copilovich
brothers. It started operation soon after the Hinckley Fire.
Four huge retorts were used. Turpentine, pine tar and oil
of tar were extracted from the Norway pine stumps which
were brought in by the settlers in large numbers. Coke was
a by-product of the process. All of these products were put
in large barrels and hauled by wagon teams to Hinckley
for shipment. This industry lasted for several years until
the near supplyv of stumps became exhausted.

JEAN DULUTH FARM.

Jean Duluth Farm was an early experimental dairy
farm established by John G. Williams near Nickerson in
the early 20’s.

(See Root’s Train, No. 4).



him, James Root backed his train northward from a bm
ing Hinckley in a race against death and that September
halocaust of 1894, known as the Great Hinckley Fire,
Gaining a little, he brought his train to a stop at Skunk
Lake where his passengers and his crew sought safety in
its muddy and shallow waters. Only those on his train
who sought safety elsewhere perished. A small pond along
Highway No. 61 about six miles north of Hinckley marks
the location of Skunk Lake, once so vital to so many people.
5. BRENNAN SAW MILL /

The Brennan saw mill, owned and operated by Mr. J.|
J. Brennan, was one of the largest saw mills in the Hinckley |
area previous to the Hinckley Fire. It was located on the
Grindstone River, northwest of town. It consisted of a|
large mill pond, saw mill and planing mill. The mill burned
completely in the Hinckley Fire and was never rebuilt.
Machinery mounts and similar signs remain as a witness of
the mighty lumber industry of the Hinckley area.
6. TUXEDO INN

The “Tuxedo Inn” was one of several resorts on
Pokegema Lake in the 1890’s. Many elegant people from
the Twin Cities, St. Cloud and Duluth liked to spend their
week-ends at the lake and it was the rule that tuxedos and
formal dresses be worn at the balls where famous orches-/|
iras of that day played. !
7. THE KATE R [

The Kate R, named for the wife of the owner, I\Ir.{,
Richard Robinson, was an excursion steamboat plying the
high waters of Snake River and Pokegema Lake. She was |
1 large sternwheeler that carried up to eighty passengers|
from the docks in Pine City to various resorts on Pokegema
Lake. Captain Elijah Seavey, better known as “Cap’i#
>eavey, was captain of the Kate R for many years. t
3. BUTTON FACTORIES |

Clamming for pearls was a great sport around the!
hores of Lake Pokegema in the 1890’s; often valuable|
bearls were found - one valued at $2,800.00. In time, some
nterprising people got the idea of making buttons from thed
hells. J. J. Madden had a small factory where Wm. Korbel’s/
‘esidence now stands, and Melvin J. Cherrier had a small
business at his home on Cross Lake. Button blanks were
awed out of the clam shells bought by the pound, mostly
rom enterprising youngsters who brought them in by the
ack load. Several men were employed in the work and
he blank buttons were sent to other factories to be finished. |
). HINCKLEY MONUMENT

By an act of the legislature in 1896 a beautiful granite
shaft was erected east of the village of Hinckley to honor
hose who lost their lives in the Great Hinckley Fire of
1894 and to mark the graves of the 248 unidentified persons,
ouried in four long trenches there. The Hinckley Fire
survivors and Pioneers organization meets annually to re-
rew old friendships and carry on the work of maintaining
hat part of the cemetery as a lasting remembrance of their
riends and relatives who lost their lives in that first day
f September long ago.
0. BROOX PARK MONUMENT

Just southwest of Brook Park the state erected a!
cautiful monument in 1915, to honor those people who
ied in the Hinckley Fire of 1894. Twenty-three of the
wenty-six persons who lost their lives are buried in two
ong trenches. The cemetery is kept in neat order and
ach year memorial services are held there.
1. MILBURN COMMUNITY

The Milburn community on the St. Croix road, some
- to 7 miles east of Pine City, takes its name after the burn-
ng of a saw mill there on September 1, 1894. The mill

|

purchased by the John Mart
to the Boyle-Laird company just previous to the Hinckley
Fire. After the fire It was never rebuilt. A well and
signs of the old cemelery are all that remains of those early
days at Mission Creecl. h

17. COPPER MINING

It was J. Bennet Smith of Scranton, Penn., as general
agent for the Lake Superior and Minneapolis railroad, who
claimed discovering indications of copper on the north
banks of Snake river, 4 miles enst of Pine City. Mr. Smith,
wilh two associates, started some prospective mining, with-
out any success, as early as 1880. In 1889, he organized a
stock company with a capital of $250,000 and several pros-
pect shafts were sunk to a depth of 150 feet. The adventure
saw some encouraging activity in the beginning of the cen-
tury . A crew of 5 - 6 men, employing steam powered equip-
ment came upon some promising veins of copper only to dis-
continue the operation. In the spring of 1907 a new $50,000
mining corporation was formed. This was abandoned that
year. Remains of these adventures can still be seen some
80 rods south of where the River road meets Co. Road 13.

Two promising copper mines were developed along
the Kettle River east and south of Hinckley. The Great
Northern Copper Company mine was located directly east
of Hinckley on the Kettle River. The last change made in
Highway No. 48 has erased all previous signs of this mine,
the highway now passing almost directly over the shaft lo-
cation. The Keweenaw mine is further south along the
river, Piles of rock and shaft depressions can still be found.
18. FIRST PUBLIC SCHOOL IN PINE COUNTY.

The first school in Pine County, Minnesota, was built
in the old county seat village, Chengwatana, located on
Snake River on the east shore of Cross Lake. It was organ-
ized in 1868. In 1894 the township of Chengwatana was
reorganized and the school was located on land donated by
Mr. Henry Kruse in the Hustletown area. There you may
still find School District No. 1. Miss Agnes Glanville was
the first teacher in Hustletown.

19. OLD GOVERNMENT ROAD.

The Military Road, commonly called the Old Government
Road, was built between Superior, Wis., and St. Paul, Minn
The alleged purpose for its building was to aid the military
forces in protecting the Head of the Lakes region from In-
dian attacks. It was completed in 1854. Mail was carried
regularly over it and stage coaches made regular trips be-
tween Duluth and St. Paul. With the coming of the rail-
roads, the stage lines went out of business. Parts of the
Old Government Road are still in use today and in other
places signs of the old road bed are still discernable.

21. BANNING - MILLER SPUR.

Banning-Miller Spur of the St. Paul & Duluth Railroad
(later sold to Northern Pacific) was constructed by William
T. Banning in 1891-1892. First train operated June 1, 1892.
After 27 years of operation the track and ties were removed
in 1918 and the right of way disposed of. The old right of
way is still discernible to the west when passing the Victor
Mosbaek farm on Highway 61, two miles north of Sandstone.
is still discernable to the west when passing the Victor Mos-
baek farm on Highway 61, two miles north of Sandstone.

22. THE SANDSTONE SPUR.

When stone suitable for quarrying was discovered ati
Fortuna (Sandstone) in 1885 and quarries were opened, a
means of transporting the stone to market was necessary.
Through the efforts of W. H. Grant a spur was built from
the St. Paul and Duluth Railroad to Sandstone in 1883.
This was the spur over which many Sandstone survivors of
the Hinckley Forest Fire of 1894 made their way to reach
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